### **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Signature:

Joseph R. Krakowiak, Jr.

<u>4/14/10</u> Date The effect of treadmill training on synaptic stripping from axotomized motoneurons in mice

by

Joseph R. Krakowiak, Jr.

Adviser

Arthur English

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology Program

Arthur English Adviser

Michael Crutcher Committee Member

Robert Liu Committee Member

 $\frac{4/14/10}{\text{Date}}$ 

# The effect of treadmill training on synaptic stripping from axotomized motoneurons in mice

By

Joseph R. Krakowiak, Jr.

Adviser Arthur English

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Sciences with Honors

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology Program

2010

#### Abstract

# The effect of treadmill training on synaptic stripping from axotomized motoneurons in mice By Joseph R. Krakowiak, Jr.

Functional recovery following peripheral nerve injury is poor despite the fact that axons in peripheral nerves can regenerate robustly. A potential cause for poor functional recovery that is not widely appreciated is 'synaptic stripping': the elimination of synaptic inputs from the soma and proximal dendrites of motoneurons in the spinal cord following peripheral nerve injury. The molecular mechanism and signaling pathways of synaptic stripping are currently unknown. However, recent work has provided a case for the dependence on neurotrophins, especially brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). Modest treadmill training has been shown to stimulate neuronal production of BDNF and NT-4/5. In this thesis, I used modest treadmill training in mice to increase BDNF in motoneurons in an attempt to prevent or counter synaptic stripping following a peripheral nerve injury. I found that with treadmill training after a peripheral nerve injury, nearly no synaptic stripping effect was observed compared to untrained mice. I repeated the treadmill training experiments with complete BDNF knockout mice and neuron-specific BDNF knockouts. In complete BDNF knockout mice, treadmill training produced a much smaller effect, and in neuron-specific BDNF knockout mice, treadmill training produced no effect. In fact, the opposite effect was observed resulting in more synaptic stripping after training compared to untrained mice. This thesis provides support for the hypothesis that BDNF plays an integral role in the synaptic reformation caused by treadmill training.

# The effect of treadmill training on synaptic stripping from axotomized motoneurons in mice

By

Joseph R. Krakowiak, Jr.

Adviser Arthur English

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Sciences with Honors

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology Program

2010

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Background	1
Methods	5
Animals and Surgical Methods	5
Tamoxifen Treatment	7
Treadmill Training Procedures	7
Immunohistochemical Analysis	8
Imaging Analysis	8
Statistical Analysis	9
Results	10
Synaptic stripping following sciatic nerve transection in the mouse	10
Treadmill training prevents synaptic stripping	11
An astrocyte reaction is absent after treadmill training	11
Lack of BDNF prevents treadmill training effect	12
Lack of neuronal BDNF prevents treadmill training effect	13
Treadmill training effect is dependent upon BDNF	.13
Discussion	14
Future Directions	17
References	18
Figures and Legends	22
Figure 1	22
Figure 2	23
Figure 3	24
Figure 4	25
Figure 5	26
Figure 6	27
Figure 7	28
Figure 8	29
Figure 9	30
Figure 10	31
Figure 11	32
Figure 12	33

#### Background

There are three main problems thought to prevent complete functional recovery after peripheral nerve injury: axons are slow to regenerate, regenerating axons reinnervate at inappropriate locations, and synaptic stripping occurs. In this thesis, I will address synaptic stripping. After an axon lesion to a spinal motoneuron, a retrograde response leads to a removal of synaptic terminals from the motoneuron cell bodies, which decreases their responsiveness to afferent signals. Synaptic stripping has been demonstrated in various animal models including rat (Blinzinger & Kreutzberg, 1968), rabbit (Hamberger et al., 1970), cat (Lindå et al., 1992), and mouse (Oliveira et al., 2008). The use of facial nerves to study synaptic stripping in many previous works supports the hypothesis that a retrograde signal to the motoneuron cell body, rather than signals from sensory inputs, initiates synaptic stripping since facial nerves do not contain sensory axons (Liebermann, 1971; Titmus & Faber, 1990).

The time course for synaptic stripping and subsequent synapse reformation has not been extensively studied. Among the various animal models used to study synaptic stripping, time of onset and recovery are diverse. In many of the studies using cat motoneurons, the progression of synaptic withdrawal increases from 3 weeks, 6 weeks, to 12 weeks (Brannstrom & Kellerth, 1998). However, in mice, synaptic stripping can be seen as soon as one week post-nerve transection (Oliveira et al., 2008). Synapses begin to re-form on the motoneuron somata once target reinnervation to a muscle occurs or a new target is given (Benítez-Temiño et al., 2005). It is currently unknown when synaptic reformation begins to occur after peripheral nerve injury in mice, but it is established that muscle reinnervation following sciatic nerve transection does not occur until at least four weeks post-axotomy in adult rats (English et al., 2007). Within this time period, a selective stripping of boutons containing spherical vesicles (a marker for excitatory inputs) and a preferential depression of excitatory potentials indicates a good correlation between physiological and morphological aspects of the reaction (Blinzinger & Kreutzberg, 1968; Sumner, 1979). Lindå et al. (2000) further investigated this phenomenon and found that after axotomy of spinal motoneurons, a larger proportion of excitatory glutamatergic synaptic terminals were removed from the soma and proximal dendrites compared to the removal of inhibitory glycinergic and GABAergic terminals. This could be interpreted as a protective mechanism from excitotoxicity after peripheral injury. However, the reformation of synapses onto the motoneuron cell body may lead to unnecessary plastic changes in synaptic input composition around the soma (Oliveira et al., 2008). Thus, synaptic stripping may serve as a neuroprotective precaution and/or may contribute to poor functional recovery following peripheral nerve injury.

The mechanism behind synaptic stripping is unknown, but activated microglia may play an important role in synaptic detachment (Blinzinger & Kreutzberg, 1968; Graeber et al., 1993). Thus, a strong proliferation of microglia is seen soon after a peripheral nerve lesion with a maximum from about day 2 to day 4 post-axotomy (Graeber et al., 1988; Streit & Kreutzberg, 1988). Astrocytes also respond to peripheral axotomy to motoneurons, but with a slower time course. They become hypertrophic and increase their production of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) (Graeber & Kreutzberg, 1986). In electron micrographic studies, glial projections can be seen interposed between the synaptic terminals and the postsynaptic membrane as well as engulfing the synaptic boutons (Brannstrom & Kellerth, 1998). Research investigating the role of microglia and astrocytes in synaptic stripping mainly focuses on the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules and other immune response molecules (Thams et al., 2008).

Another important factor that may be involved in synaptic stripping is neurotrophic support. Neurotrophins are a family of target-derived molecules that are essential for neuronal survival during development by promoting synaptogenesis and regulating synaptic stability (Vicario-Abejón et al., 2002). In adults, the scope of neurotrophin actions widens to become also mediators of synaptic and morphological plasticity (Vicario-Abejón et al., 2002). It has been proposed that a lack of retrograde neurotrophic support to the motoneuron induced by axotomy gives the initial signal for a profound synaptic stripping effect (Titmus & Faber, 1990). Some recent work has provided compelling support for the dependence of synaptic stability on retrograde neurotrophic support. Davis-Lopez de Carrizosa et al. (2009) showed that prolonged treatment of the proximal stump of a cut eye muscle nerve with brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and/or neurotrophin-3 (NT-3) completely blocks synaptic stripping.

Gomez-Pinilla et al. (2002) showed that endogenous BDNF expression can be induced in motoneurons in the intact spinal cord after modest exercise, and this change in BDNF expression could be involved in the facilitation of synaptic plasticity (Ying et al., 2005). In fact, very modest exercise in the form of treadmill training produced substantial enhancement of axon regeneration after peripheral nerve injury (Sabatier et al. 2008). Based on additional data from the English lab, such treadmill training also stimulates increased BDNF and NT-4/5 expression in neurons whose axons are regenerating (Wilhelm et al., 2009). Thus, the primary hypothesis of this thesis is that treadmill training will prevent synaptic stripping following peripheral nerve injury by increasing the endogenous expression of BDNF in motoneurons.

I evaluated the effect of treadmill training after peripheral nerve injury on synaptic stripping from axotomized motoneurons. Treadmill training can be readily applied to both laboratory animals and human subjects. With human subjects, continuous locomotion at a moderate pace is often used. However, laboratory mice use a different pattern of locomotion that involves repeated short interval runs at relatively high speed with rest in between (DeBono et al., 2006). In our lab, this interval training paradigm resulted in a substantial enhancement of axon regeneration following nerve transection and surgical repair of peripheral nerves (Sabatier et al., 2008; English et al., 2009).

In order to test the hypothesized BDNF dependence of the treadmill training effect, I studied mice in which the gene for BDNF was knocked out. In mice in which this gene is knocked out conventionally, homozygous null animals die during the first few postnatal weeks. To avoid this neonatal lethality, I used the Cre-lox system to create conditional BDNF knockout mice. Two different models of Cre recombinase expression to eliminate the coding region of the BDNF gene in floxed (BDNF f/f) adult (> 2 months old) mice were used. In one model, BDNF is knocked out in all cells using a tamoxifeninducible Cre recombinase promoter. In the other model, the BDNF gene is knocked out using a neuron-specific expression of Cre. I found that treadmill training prevented synaptic stripping following peripheral nerve injury, and a diminished effect was seen in BDNF knockout mice. Increased synaptic stripping was observed after treadmill training in the neuron-specific BDNF knockout mice.

#### Methods

#### Animals and Surgical Methods

All experimental procedures conformed to the Guidelines for the Use of Animals in Research of the Society for Neuroscience and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Emory University. Experiments were conducted on adult (>2 months old) mice weighing 17g-48g. All mouse genotypes used in the following experiments were on a C57BL/6J background. This study exploited the use of mouse genetics to evaluate whether BDNF is necessary for any effect of treadmill training on synaptic stripping following peripheral nerve injury. Three different mice were used. Two of the groups feature a mouse termed single-neuron labeling with inducible Cre-mediated knockout (SLICK) (Young et al. 2008). In these animals, yellow fluorescent protein (YFP) is expressed under the control of the *thy-1* promoter and it is found in a portion of all motoneurons and dorsal root ganglion (DRG) neurons. The name applied to these mice reflects the fact that the YFP+ neurons also express a tamoxifeninducible Cre recombinase that can be used to generate conditional BDNF knockout mice. Conventional BDNF knockout mice die during the first postnatal week (Ernfors et al., 1994) so techniques for knocking out the gene selectively were used to avoid this lethality. If SLICK mice are bred with transgenic mice in which loxP sites are inserted flanking the coding region of the BDNF gene (floxed BDNF mice), then effective induction of Cre expression in their offspring (SLICK::BDNF f/f) by treatment with the synthetic estrogen, tamoxifen, will result in the excision of this floxed sequence, and a selective knockout of BDNF in YFP+ neurons will be achieved. These mice will be used to investigate the role of neuronal BDNF in synaptic stripping. This genotype will be

referred to as SLICK knockout. In non-tamoxifen (vehicle) treated SLICK::BDNF f/f mice, no effect on the BDNF gene was found; these mice will be genetically identical to wild type mice. These mice will serve as controls and will be referred to as wild-type throughout. In the third mouse model used, the same Cre-lox system was used to knock out the BDNF gene in all cells, not just neurons. Floxed BDNF mice were bred with mice in which tamoxifen-inducible Cre is expressed under the control of a ubiquitous promoter. When the offspring of these mice are treated with tamoxifen, Cre is expressed in all cells and BDNF is knocked out in all Cre-expressing cells. This genotype will be referred to as BDNF knockout.

All mice were subjected to one survival surgery while anesthetized with isoflurane. The sciatic nerves were cut bilaterally in the mid thigh; a section of the nerve was removed to avoid reinnervation and the proximal segment of the cut nerve was left disconnected from their distal segments. Spinal motoneurons were labeled by application of Dextran (MW 1000) conjugated to a red fluorophore (either Alexafluor 594 or Alexafluor 555) onto the proximal stumps of the cut nerves. In some mice, the sciatic nerves were left intact, as a control, and the motoneuron cell bodies were labeled by injection of the cholera toxin B subunit conjugated with the aforementioned Alexafluors (1µl) into the gastrocnemius and tibialis anterior muscles. These mice were considered the sham treatment group. One third of the mice in each of the three genotype groups were subject to daily treadmill training, beginning two to four days after surgery, and lasting for two weeks. One third of the mice in each of the three genotype groups served as unexercised controls after surgery. The final third of the mice in each group were left intact, as described above, and unexercised to form a baseline control for comparison with the experimental mice. Mice from each genotype were randomly assigned to a treatment. All surgeries were controlled for the amount of time under anesthesia to avoid nuisance variables that may exist between the nerve injection and nerve cut and soak procedures. Based on periodic observations, nerve cut surgeries did not affect daily activity in the cage.

#### Tamoxifen Treatment

All mice were genotyped from tail DNA prior to selection for treatment. Tamoxifen was administered orally to adult Cre-mediated BDNF knockout mice three times a week for one week. SLICK::BDNF f/f mice were treated with tamoxifen for two rounds of three times a week with two weeks in between. Dosages were calculated based on the weight of the mouse at 0.75mg/20g, and the tamoxifen was dissolved in a 10mg/mL solution of sunflower seed oil. All mice were not used for surgery until two weeks following the last day of tamoxifen treatment to allow the knockout procedure to go to completion. Tamoxifen treatment does not affect BDNF levels in mice (Wilhelm et al., 2009)

#### Treadmill Training Procedures

An interval treadmill training paradigm was used (20m/min, 4x2min/5min rest, 5days/week) because it resembles the natural mouse locomotion patterns observed by DeBono et al. (2005). Two to three recovery days after surgery, one third of the mice from each genotype group was subjected to treadmill training for a duration of two weeks. The mice were placed in individual lanes on the treadmill that were completely

enclosed, and they were given 2-3 minutes to acclimate. The mice were monitored during training. Based on periodic observations, treadmill training did not affect normal activity in the cage

#### Immunohistochemical Analysis

Animals were deeply anesthetized with pentobarbital (150mg/kg, i.p.) and transcardially perfused with 100ml of normal saline followed by 4% paraformaldehyde. Spinal cord segments L3-L5 were harvested and cryoprotected in 20% sucrose. Spinal cords were sectioned on a cryostat (Reichert-Jung) in the transverse plane at 20µm. Standard direct immunohistological procedures were performed to detect the following antigens: synaptic vesicle protein 2 (SV2) (Harvard Medical School; 1:40) and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) (Axell; 1:500). Biotinylated anti-mouse and –rabbit secondary antibodies with streptavidin conjugated to Alexafluor 647 were used to detect signal. Sections were mounted on Superfrost Plus slides and coverslipped with Entellan (Electron Microscopy Sciences). Sections were viewed with a Zeiss confocal microscope (LSM-510, Zeiss).

#### Imaging Analysis

The experimenter was blinded to the experimental grouping of the source of tissues on slides while capturing images and collecting data. The slides were covered with a coded label that was not decoded until after data analysis. Twenty to forty high magnification (40x) images of individual labeled motoneuron cell bodies at a confocal slice thickness of 1 µm were retrieved from both sides of the spinal cord for each animal.

These optical sections were made through a region of the motoneuron soma containing a visible nuclear shadow (Fig. 1). Images were processed to minimize light scattering using 2D blind deconvolution, but no other image processing methods were applied. For each motoneuron selected for study, a region of interest was created about the perimeter of the cell and intersecting SV2 immunopositive synaptic terminals on the soma and proximal dendrites. Only the channel containing the motoneuron was on during measurements to avoid bias from synaptic boutons not attached to the soma. A plot profile was created measuring the light intensity along the perimeter or the region of interest for each motoneuron. Then, the percentage that the perimeter measurement was above a user-defined threshold was calculated (Fig. 1). Mean values of the percentage of soma synaptic coverage were determined for each mouse. All measurements were made using ImageJ software.

Synaptic stripping is associated with a robust glial cell reaction (Graeber & Kreutzberg, 1986; Sabha et al., 2008). To measure the astrocyte reaction, I measured the mean intensity of GFAP immunoreactivity in a region of interest in lamina IX surrounding the pool of labeled motoneurons. Measurements of fluorescence intensity were corrected for background fluorescence in regions of interest selected from sections reacted without application of the primary antibody for GFAP. Fifteen to twenty measurements were averaged for each side of the spinal cord for each animal.

#### Statistical Analysis

Each side of the spinal cord of each animal was treated as an independent subject to minimize the use of animals. Each treatment group contained two mice for n=4 sides

of the spinal cord. Significance (p<0.05) of differences between all groups were made using analysis of variance (Statistica 6.0). When the omnibus test for significance was met, paired post-hoc testing (Fishers least significant differences) was applied. When n<4 (Fig. 5 only) a two-sample Student's t-test was used for significance of differences (p<0.05).

#### Results

Using an interval training paradigm, we tested the hypothesis that treadmill training would prevent synaptic stripping from motoneuron somata that normally follows sciatic nerve transection. With BDNF knockout mice, we tested the hypothesis that BDNF is a crucial factor involved in the treadmill training effect.

#### Synaptic stripping following sciatic nerve transection in the mouse

Synaptic stripping from motoneurons following sciatic nerve transection can be seen in images of spinal cord sections reacted with an antibody to the synaptic vesicle protein, SV2 (Fig. 2). The average percent ( $\pm$ SEM) coverage of motoneuron somata and proximal dendrites by SV2+ synaptic boutons is shown in Fig. 3 for sham (0d) (mean=55.46 $\pm$ 2.11 (SEM)), one week post-axotomy (7d) (30.43 $\pm$ 1.44), and two weeks post-axotomy (14d) (26.74 $\pm$ 1.56) (n=4 for all groups). A significant stripping effect was found at both one week and two weeks following sciatic nerve transection (p<0.00001, 1 week; p<0.0000001, 2 weeks). All subsequent data and graphs express this reduction in synaptic coverage as a percent change from control (sham) calculation and are presented in that format. A reduction of approximately 50% in synaptic coverage surrounding the

motoneuron cell bodies and proximal dendrites was found post-axotomy (p<0.0000001, 2 weeks, Fig. 4). This reduction in synaptic coverage is similar to what others have reported in the same mouse strain (Sabha et al., 2008). No significant difference was found between one week and two weeks post-axotomy (p=0.38, Fig. 3). Therefore, all experiments other than controls were performed using a two week survival period post-axotomy to better fit the treadmill training paradigm.

#### Treadmill training prevents synaptic stripping

Treadmill training following sciatic nerve transection resulted in synaptic coverage similar to that noted in controls (Figs. 2, 4). The percent change in synaptic coverage vs. control is shown in figure 4 for two weeks post-axotomy (untrained)  $(51.78\pm2.80)$  and two weeks post-axotomy (trained)  $(-1.15\pm5.73)$  (n=4 for all groups). The differences between these two groups were statistically significant (p<0.00001). No significant difference was found between mice two weeks post-axotomy with treadmill training and sham controls (p=0.88).

#### An astrocyte reaction is absent after treadmill training

A notable feature of synaptic stripping is the glial reaction that occurs in the spinal cord after axotomy, in which reactive GFAP-positive astrocytes surround the axotomized motoneurons (Graeber & Kreutzberg, 1986; Sabha et al. 2008). Confocal images from sections of the spinal cord that were reacted with an antibody to GFAP are shown in figure 5. The mean intensity of GFAP immunoreactivity (mean gray value) in regions of interest in the sciatic motor nucleus is shown in Fig. 6 for the following

conditions in wild-type mice: sham (0d) (mean=3064.8 $\pm$ 373.5), one week post-axotomy (7d) (mean=8036.9 $\pm$ 198.4), two weeks post-axotomy (14d untrained) (12283.9 $\pm$ 112.5), and two weeks post-axotomy with treadmill training (14d trained) (2748.0 $\pm$ 389.3) (n=2 for all groups). A significant increase in GFAP immunoreactivity was observed one week and two weeks post-axotomy (p<0.001, one week; p<0.0001, two weeks, Fig. 5). No significant difference was found between the sham group and the treadmill trained group (p=0.60, Fig. 5).

#### Lack of BDNF prevents treadmill training effect

The synaptic coverages of motoneurons in BDNF-KO mice with intact sciatic nerves as well as two weeks post-axotomy with and without treadmill training are shown as selected confocal images in figure 7. The percent change in synaptic coverage vs. wild-type controls is shown in Fig. 8 for the following treatments respectively: sham (- $55.65\pm3.60$ ), two weeks post-axotomy (untrained) (- $72.06\pm7.18$ ), and two weeks post-axotomy (trained) (- $29.26\pm5.57$ ) (n=4 for all groups). In complete BDNF knockouts, there was a significant reduction in synaptic coverage in mice with intact sciatic nerves compared to wild-type mice (p<0.0000001). The reduction relative to intact wild-type mice increased further after axotomy (p<0.00000001) and this decrease is significantly different from BDNF-KO sham (p<0.04). However, in treadmill trained mice, synaptic coverage increased significantly relative to the genotype's control condition (p<0.01), but remained significantly below wild-type control (p<0.001).

#### Lack of neuronal BDNF prevents treadmill training effect

The synaptic coverage of motoneurons in SLICK-KO mice with intact sciatic nerves as well as two weeks post-axotomy with and without treadmill training are shown as selected confocal images (Fig. 9). The percent change in synaptic coverage vs. wildtype controls is shown in Fig. 10 for sham (-26.09 $\pm$ 2.43), two weeks post-axotomy (untrained) (-21.78 $\pm$ 8.67), and two weeks post-axotomy (trained) (-42.93 $\pm$ 3.91) (n=4 for all groups). In neuron-specific BDNF knockouts, there was a significant reduction in synaptic coverage in mice with intact sciatic nerves compared to wild-type mice (p<0.001). After axotomy, synaptic coverage is not significantly changed from that of sham-treated mice of the same genotype (p=0.58), but significantly less than the wildtype sham group (p<0.01). Surprisingly, after treadmill training synaptic coverage decreased dramatically beyond the reduction seen in axotomized untrained SLICK-KO mice vs. wild-type controls (p<0.0001). This change was significantly different from the SLICK-KO sham group and untrained group (p<0.04 and p<0.01, respectively).

#### Treadmill training effect is dependent upon BDNF

The synaptic coverage of motoneurons in each genotype that received treadmill training are shown to compare the effects of genotype on the result from treadmill training (Fig. 11). The percent change in synaptic coverage vs. wild-type controls is shown in Fig. 12 for all three genotypes that received treadmill training. Wild-type (trained) (-1.15 $\pm$ 5.73), BDNF-KO (trained) (-29.26 $\pm$ 5.57), and SLICK-KO (trained) (-42.93 $\pm$ 3.91) (n=4 for all groups). The synaptic coverage in both BDNF-KO models was significantly less compared to treadmill trained wild-type (p<0.001, BDNF-KO;

p<0.00001, SLICK-KO). No significant difference was found between KO groups (trained) (p=0.08). Both KO groups were significantly different from the wild-type trained group (p<0.001 and p<0.00001, respectively).

#### Discussion

The main finding of my thesis is that treadmill training following peripheral nerve injury prevents synaptic stripping. Treadmill training after a peripheral nerve injury has also been shown to enhance axon regeneration (Sabatier et al., 2008), and to do so without an increase in the misdirection of regenerating axons (English et al, 2009). Since synaptic stripping might be a source of poor functional recovery following peripheral nerve injury, these combined effects of treadmill training have potential for improved functional recovery after injury.

Based on the results presented above, new insights as to the cellular basis for synaptic stripping following peripheral nerve injury and its restoration following reinnervation may be forthcoming. Axotomy-induced synaptic stripping is thought to be a result of deprivation of motoneurons from target-derived molecules that contribute to synaptic stability (Titmus & Faber, 1990). Stripping occurs in axotomized facial motoneurons, where afferent axons forming synapses on those motoneurons are spared (Liebermann, 1971). Along with the withdrawal of some inhibitory boutons (Lindå et al., 2000), these results are consistent with stripping being an effect mediated through the motoneurons and not the synaptic inputs to the motoneurons. A compelling case can be made that neurotrophins, such as BDNF, are among the molecules that are reduced or absent in the axotomized motoneurons. Davis-Lopez de Carrizosa et al. (2009) showed that by application of BDNF to the proximal stumps of cut nerves, they were able to block synaptic stripping. Treadmill exercise is known to increase the expression of neurotrophins, such as BDNF in motoneurons (Gomez-Pinilla et al., 2002). Thus I hypothesized that treadmill training acts to retain synapses on axotomized motoneurons by stimulating the production of BDNF and that this production replaces the lost targetderived source of BDNF.

This hypothesis was tested using the conditional BDNF knockout mice. This is first study to provide a case of synaptic stripping in genetic knockout mice, and it is the first to demonstrate a synaptic plasticity effect of treadmill training in the spinal cord. If BDNF is required for the maintenance of synaptic inputs onto motoneurons, then one might predict that significant synaptic stripping would occur in BDNF knockout mice. It is clear from the BDNF-KO results that it has an important role in maintaining synaptic connections and is involved in the mechanism behind the treadmill training effect. The fact that there is less synaptic coverage in intact BDNF-KO animals compared to wildtype controls suggests the importance of BDNF from all sources. However, there does seem to be an effect of treadmill training in these mice. The difference between the 28% reduction found after training and the 55% reduction found in intact BDNF-KO mice suggests that something about the training induces new synapse formation. The role of other factors is also suggested by the increase in synaptic stripping from 55% in intact BDNF-KO mice to 71% found two weeks post-axotomy. Since the motoneuron is already deprived of all sources of BDNF, there must be other factors that were removed after axotomy that were necessary for synaptic maintenance. A likely source of such an effect might be neurotrophic factors other than BDNF. Davis-Lopez de Carrizosa et al. (2009)

showed that neurotrophin-3 application to the proximal stumps of cut nerves reduced synaptic stripping from motoneurons and that the nature of this reduction was different than that noted when they treated cut nerves with BDNF. It would be interesting to evaluate the involvement of the other neurotrophins in synaptic maintenance.

In the experiments with intact SLICK-KO mice, a smaller but significant reduction in synaptic coverage, relative to wild type mice, was found when compared to the reduction found in BDNF-KO mice. This difference reflects the effect of motoneuron-specific BDNF elimination in these mice. In the BDNF-KO mice, all of the cells, including afferent neurons and glial cells, such as astrocytes, are deficient in BDNF. In the SLICK-KO mice the effect is only in the motoneurons and a relatively small number of other neurons. The difference in reduction of coverage between BDNF-KO (55%) and SLICK-KO (25%) is evidence that BDNF from other sources than the motoneurons such as glia might have an important role in maintaining synaptic inputs. The fact that there was no significant change associated with axotomy in SLICK-KO mice likely means that any stripping related to target deprivation of BDNF was already exhausted. There was no stripping that resulted from depriving BDNF null motoneurons from their targets. The increased stripping that resulted from treadmill training in these mice was unexpected. It is difficult to interpret without knowing what else might be going on in these motoneurons. A change in the homeostatic balance of neurotrophins, unique in these mice, may have resulted in a negative response increasing the stripping by some unknown mechanism. Overall, it seems like there are two sources of synaptic stripping: intrinsic to the motoneurons that is represented here as target derived BDNF;

and stripping resulting from sources outside of the motoneurons, such as afferent neurons and glial cells

#### **Future Directions**

Our data supports our hypothesis that treadmill training, acting through an upregulation of BDNF and possibly other neurotrophins, prevents synaptic stripping. However, further analysis is required to study glial or other sources of BDNF and other neurotrophic factors that may be responsible for the treadmill training effect seen in this paper. Conditional BDNF knockout mice with BDNF knocked out in glial cells would be useful in future analyses as well as other neurotrophin knockout mice.

Overall, the effect of blocking synaptic stripping by treadmill training can be seen as a means by which functional recovery following peripheral nerve injury could be enhanced. However, the prevention of synaptic stripping from axotomized motoneurons by treadmill training might not be so beneficial if stripping functions as a substrate for adaptive synaptic plasticity. Further analysis to look at any possible synaptic reformations or rearrangements after treadmill training is necessary to provide more insight to the potential enhancement or reduction in functional recovery by synaptic stripping. For example, Alvarez et al. (2004) has shown that after rhizotomy, a preferential removal of VGLUT1 positive terminals (believed to belong to group Ia spindle afferents) were removed over VGLUT2 positive terminals. Further characterization of the types of synapses before and after treadmill training on the soma of axotomized motoneurons would also be helpful in determining more functional outcomes from the treadmill training effect discussed in this paper.

- Alvarez F., Villalba R., Zerda R., Schneider S. (2004). Vesicular glutamate transporters in the spinal cord, with special reference to sensory primary afferent synapses. J. *Comp. Neurol.*, 472: 257-280.
- Benítez-Temiño B., de la Cruz R.R., Tena J.J., Pastor A.M. (2005). Cerebellar grafting in the oculomotor system as a model to study target influence on adult neurons. *Brain Res. Rev.*, 49:317–329.
- Blinzinger K., Kreutzberg G. (1968). Displacement of synaptic terminals from regenerating motoneurons by microglial cells. Z. Zellforsch., 85:145-157
- Brannstrom T. & Kellerth J. (1998). Changes in synaptology of adult cat spinal alphamotoneurons after axotomy. *Exp. Brain Res.*, 118:1-13.
- Davis-Lopez de Carrizosa M., Morado-Diaz C., Tena J., Benitez-Temino B., Pecero M., Morcuende S., R. de la Cruz R., Pastor A. (2009). Complimentary actions of BDNF and Neurotrophin-3 on the firing patterns and synaptic composition of motoneurons. *J. Neurosci.*, 29(2): 575-587.
- De Bono J.P., Adlam D., Paterson D.J., Channon K.M. (2006). Novel quantitative phenotypes of exercise training in mouse models. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol., 290: R926-934.
- English A.W., Cucoranu D., Mulligan A., and Sabatier M.J. (2009). Treadmill Training
   Enhances Axon Regeneration in injured mouse peripheral nerves without
   increased loss of topographic specificity. J. Comp. Neurol., 517:245-255

- English A.W., Chen Y., Carp J.S., Wolpaw J.R., Chen X.Y. (2007). Recovery of electromyographic activity after transection and surgical repair of the rat sciatic nerve. *J. Neurophysiol.*, 97(2): 1127-1134.
- Ernfors P., Lee K. F. & Jaenisch R. (1994). Mice lacking brain-derived neurotrophic factor develop with sensory deficits. *Nature*, 368: 147-150.
- Gomez-Pinilla F., Ying Z., Roy R.R., Molteni R., Edgerton V.R., (2002). Voluntary exercise induces a BDNF-mediated mechanism that promotes neuroplasticity. *J. Neurophysiol.*, 88: 2187–2195.
- Graeber M.B. & Kreutzberg G.W. (1986). Astrocytes increase in glial fibrillary acidic protein during retrograde changes of facial motor neurons. *J. Neurocyto.*, 15: 363–373.
- Graeber M.B., Tetzlaff W., Streit W.J., Kreutzberg G.W. (1988). Microglial cells but not astrocytes undergo mitosis following facial nerve axotomy. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 85: 317–321.
- Graeber M.B., Bise K., Mehraein P. (1993). Synaptic stripping in the human facial nucleus. *Acta. Neuropathol.*. (Berl.), 86: 179–181.
- Hamberger A., Hansson H-A., Sjöstrand J. (1970). Surface structure of isolated neurons.
  Detachment of nerve terminals during axon regeneration. J. Cell Biol., 47:319-331
- Liebermann A.R. (1971). The axon reaction: a review of the principal features of perikaryal responses to axon injury. *Int. Rev. Neurobiol.*, 14:49-124.

- Lindå H., Cullheim S., Risling M. (1992). A light and electron microscopic study of intracellularly HRP-labelled lumbar motoneurons after intramedullary axotomy in the adult cat. J. Comp. Neurol., 318:188-208
- Lindå H., Shupliakov O., Örnung G., Ottersen O.P., Storm-Mathisen J., Risling M., Cullheim S. (2000). Ultrastructural evidence for a preferential elimination of glutamate-immunoreactive synaptic terminals from spinalmotoneurons after intramedullary axotomy. J. Comp. Neurol., 425: 10–23.
- Oliveira A., Thams S., Lidman O., Piehl F., Hökfelt T., Kärre K., Lindå H., Cullheim S. (2008). A role for MHC class I molecules in synaptic plasticity and regeneration of neurons after axotomy. *PNAS*, 101: 17843-17848.
- Sabatier M., Redmon N., Schwartz G., English A. (2008). Treadmill training promotes axon regeneration in injured peripheral nerves. *Exp. Neurol.*, 211:489-493.
- Sabha M., Emirandetti A., Cullheim S., Oliveira A. (2008). MHCI expression and synaptic plasticity in different mice strains after axotomy. *Synapse*, 62: 137-148.
- Streit W.J., Kreutzberg G.W. (1988). The response of endogenous glial cells to motor neuron degeneration induced by toxic ricin. *J. Comp. Neurol.*, 268: 248–263.
- Sumner B.E.H. (1979) Ultrastructural data, with special reference to bouton/glial relationships, from the hypoglossal nucleus after a second axotomy of the hypoglossal nerve. *Exp. Brain. Res.*, 36:107-118
- Thams S., Oliveira A., Cullheim S. (2008). MHC class I expression and synaptic plasticity after nerve lesion. *Brain Res. Rev.*. 57: 265-269.
- Titmus M.J., Faber D.S. (1990). Axotomy-induced alterations in the electrophysiological characteristics of neurons. *Prog. Neurobiol.*, 35:1-51

- Vicario-Abejo´n C., Owens D., McKay R., Segal M. (2002). Role of neurotrophins in central synapse formation and stabilization. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.*, 3:965–974.
- Wilhelm J.C., Cucoranu D., Gu J., Mulligan A., English A.W. (2009) Limited peripheral axon regeneration in conditional BDNF knockout mice. *Soc. Neurosci. Abstr.*, 510.
- Ying Z., Roy R., Edgerton R., Gómez-Pinilla F. (2005). Exercise restores levels of neurotrophins and synaptic plasticity following spinal cord injury. *Exp. Neurol.*, 193: 411-419.
- Young P., Qiu L., Wang D., Zhao S., Gross J. & Feng G. (2008). Single-neuron labeling with inducible Cre-mediated knockout in transgenic mice. *Nature Neuroscience*, 11(6): 721-728.

# Figures and Legends



Figure 1. Single motoneuron measurement diagram is shown with profile plot obtained with Image J. Letters a-d indicate synaptic boutons that are intersected by the yellow perimeter line and correlate with the labeled spikes on the profile plot. The red line across the profile plot represents the user-defined threshold at 20000 gray value. Spikes above this line are counted as synaptic terminals on the motoneuron.

### Synaptic stripping following sciatic nerve transection in the mouse





Figure 2. Single motoneuron profiles are shown with red cell bodies and cyan synaptic boutons. Images were captured under 40x objective magnification and 2x optical zoom. Order from left to right: sham (0d), one week post-axotomy (7d), two weeks post-axotomy (14d), two weeks post-axotomy with treadmill training (14d trained).



Figure 3. The mean percent coverage of synaptic boutons surrounding motoneuron somata and proximal dendrites (±SEM) is shown in wild-type mice for the following conditions: sham (0d), one week post-axotomy (7d), and two weeks post-axotomy (14d) (n=4 for all groups). Asterisks on error bars indicate a significant difference with wild-type sham group.

#### Treadmill training blocks synaptic stripping



Figure 4. The mean percent change in synaptic coverage vs. control ( $\pm$ SEM) in wild-type mice is shown for two weeks post-axotomy (untrained) and two weeks post-axotomy (trained) (n=4 for all groups). The apparent absence of a bar for the trained group is due to a very small percent change from controls. Asterisks on error bars indicate a significant difference with wild-type sham group. Asterisks on brackets indicate significance between groups within the graph.



An astrocyte reaction is absent after treadmill training

Figure 5. Single motoneuron profiles are shown with red cell bodies and green astrocytes. In the first row, images were captured under 40x objective magnification and 2x optical zoom. In the second row, images were captured under 10x objective magnification. Order from left to right: sham (0d), one week post-axotomy (7d), two weeks post-axotomy (14d), two weeks post-axotomy with treadmill training (14d trained).



Figure 6. The mean intensity of GFAP immunoreactivity (mean gray value) ( $\pm$ SEM) represents each bar for the following conditions in wild-type mice: sham (0d), one week post-axotomy (7d), two weeks post-axotomy (14d untrained), and two weeks post-axotomy with treadmill training (14d trained) (n=2 for all groups). The diagram in the top-right depicts the method through Image J that was performed to obtain the values in the graph. Asterisks indicate a significant difference from sham group.



Figure 7. Single motoneuron profiles from BDNF knockout mice are shown with purple cell bodies (indicating complete BDNF knockout) and cyan synaptic boutons. Images were captured under 40x objective magnification and 2x optical zoom. Order from left to right: sham (0d), two weeks post-axotomy (14d untrained), two weeks post-axotomy with treadmill training (14d trained).



Figure 8. The mean percent change in synaptic coverage vs. wild-type controls ( $\pm$ SEM) is shown for BDNF-KO mice in the following treatments respectively: sham, two weeks post-axotomy (untrained), and two weeks post-axotomy (trained) (n=4 for all groups). Asterisks on error bars indicate a significant difference with wild-type sham group. Asterisks on brackets indicate significance between groups within the graph.





Figure 9. Single motoneuron profiles from SLICK knockout mice are shown with red cell bodies and cyan synaptic boutons. Images were captured under 40x objective magnification and 2x optical zoom. Order from left to right: sham (0d), two weeks post-axotomy (14d untrained), two weeks post-axotomy with treadmill training (14d trained).



Figure 10. The mean percent change in synaptic coverage vs. wild-type controls ( $\pm$ SEM) is shown for SLICK-KO mice in the following treatments respectively: sham, two weeks post-axotomy (untrained), and two weeks post-axotomy (trained) (n=4 for all groups). Asterisks on error bars indicate a significant difference with wild-type sham group. Asterisks on brackets indicate significance between groups within the graph.





Figure 11. Single motoneuron profiles from wild-type, complete BDNF-KO, and SLICK BDNF-KO mice, respectively that received treadmill training, are shown with red, purple, and green cell bodies according to genotype and cyan synaptic boutons. Images were captured under 40x objective magnification and 2x optical zoom.



Figure 12. The mean percent change in synaptic coverage vs. wild-type controls ( $\pm$ SEM) is shown for all three genotypes that received treadmill training. Wild-type (trained), BDNF-KO (trained), and SLICK-KO (trained) (n=4 for all groups). The apparent absence of a bar for the wild-type trained group is due to a very small percent change from wild-type controls. Asterisks on error bars indicate a significant difference with wild-type sham group. Asterisks on brackets indicate significance between groups within the graph.